Report 

on the Work of the Committee Investigating 

the Fate of the so-called Jaross Lists

Drawn up in 1944, in Hungary

Dr. István Hiller, Minister of the National Cultural Heritage, by his letter of commission dated 12th December, 2003, “in connection with the 60th anniversary commemorations of the Holocaust in Hungary, in order to explore the lists of the victims forced to death camps, delegated the undersigned to work as an interim committee to reveal as accurately as possible the fate of the lists drawn up in 1944, from the time of their compilation.”

In the process of defining our aims and tasks we took into consideration the fact that during 2003 several information appeared in the Hungarian press suggesting that an alleged copy of the lists originating from the Ministry of the Interior, drawn up in April 1944, in the territory of the contemporary Hungary, was lurking at one of the Hungarian record keeping places that concealed it from the public.

At its inaugural meeting the Committee pointed out that the existence of contemporary mass inventories or rolls (“deportation lists”) containing the names of victims forced to death camps is not and has not been known to Hungarian record keeping places. It is also unclear whether such lists have ever been drawn up or not. Consequently, the Committee decided that its primary aim should be to clarify the circumstances and purpose of the creation of Decree No. 6136/1944. BM VII. res. dated 4th April 1944, that ordered the first detailed registration of Hungarian Jews, as well as the mechanism of its execution and the fate of the documents created in the process of its execution (i.e. the 4 copies of the lists of names) following April/June, 1944. 

Rather unusually in the regular administrative procedure, Decree No. 6136/1944. BM VII. res. of the Minister of the Interior dated 4th April 1944, was “declared” in the Investigative Bulletin of the Gendarmerie on 5th April (Issue 76/15). The Decree ordered the majors and local authorities to compile a list of “all Jewish persons and their family members” in co-operation with the local Jewish “organisations”, in four copies containing the place of residence and names of mothers of each listed person. The original issue of the Decree has not survived the severe war damages to the 1944 records of the Ministry of the Interior. With regard to its “urgent nature”, the Decree’s circulation within the administration happened through the Gendarmerie. According to certain sources the Ministry informed the Gendarmerie stations even by radio transmission.

In certain cases (in smaller villages), the list was drawn up by the Gendarmerie station itself or the notary instead of the parish. 

Regarding the purpose of the Decree, it is worth consideration that its accurate execution was inherently impeded by the fact that it did not define the exact meaning of “Jewish persons”. It did not refer either to Act No. XV of 1941 or the regulations “concerning the distinctive marking of Jews”. 

According to the authentic but rather incomplete information provided by the county archives, based on surviving copies originating from the recent territory of Hungary, in accordance with the Decree one copy of the lists was forwarded to the police authorities (i.e. the police station in cities and the chief constable in districts), another to the competent Gendarmerie Headquarters, a third copy to the Minister of the Interior, and the fourth remained at the place of origin, in the registry of the community council or the major’s office.

Within the Ministry of the Interior the lists received were transferred for further processing to Zoltán Bosnyák or to the “Hungarian Institute of Research on the Jewish Question” established on 12 May, 1944 (not without any precedents). This records transfer, rather peculiar in the Hungarian administration up to that time, was preceded by the disorganisation of the traditional bureaucratic order of the Ministry by the 4th of April (i.e. the date of the Decree’s issue). László Endre had already been managing “Jewish matters” with exclusive competence well before his appointment as Secretary of State, and the letters (reports, exemptions etc.), addressed to the Ministry or even the Minister himself, were forwarded to him without registration, while he, occasionally, entrusted Bosnyák with the administration. Zoltán Bosnyák proceeded on behalf of the Ministry, although he did not belong to the Ministry’s personnel, in his capacity as “Director”. From the end of April he gave individual registry numbers to outgoing letters and continued this registration system following the 12th of May, by then in fact as the director of the Hungarian Institute of Research on the Jewish Question. (The Institute’s deed of foundation was approved by the Minister of the Interior on 15th April, 1944, with László Endre, Secretary of State and Zoltán Bosnyák, public school director among the founder members.
)

For the arrangement of the newly established Institute’s library and, as Zoltán Bosnyák confessed at the Hungarian political police in 1952, the arrangement of the lists, the Major of Budapest, with reference to a decree of the Prime Minister, placed 8 to 15 “members of the teaching staff” at the Institute’s disposal
. This actually meant that they arranged the lists forwarded to the Ministry according to county and then to district (although they did definitely not integrate them into a single list), finally they indicated the places that had not forwarded the lists. Bosnyák considered it important to obtain the missing lists, too. He warned the city majors or the chief constables of districts one by one, in the latter case accurately identifying the villages, from which he did not receive data. In his instructions, he requested to include and indicate the names of the villages where no Jews lived, too. Subsequently, during the summer of 1944, the lists were transferred to the Hungarian Institute of Research on the Jewish Question, located at no. 4 Vörösmarty square, where the “scientific” processing of the lists began, meaning, for example, attempts to analyse the name-giving habits of the Jews.

Consequently, the list of names drawn up in April did not serve the purposes of further regulations or measures of the Ministry of the Interior; they were compiled at the request of the Hungarian Institute of Research on the Jewish Question and its director, Zoltán Bosnyák. This is why they insisted that the lists created after the deadline had to record the state of affairs of the 4th of April, i.e. a single, identical date. In his warnings, Bosnyák occasionally requested additional data (e.g. occupation), thus, in some cases, the list were repeatedly sent supplemented with the requested information.

Due to war damages, the 1944 records of police stations were not or were very sporadically transferred to public archives, and among them hardly any lists of names created in April, 1944 can be found (exceptions include Kiskunfélegyháza and Hajdúnánás), which means that the lists drawn up in smaller or larger cities are not available. 

Apart from Gendarmerie District VI (Debrecen), no wartime Gendarmerie records have been transferred to archives as they were, in accordance with the service regulations of the Gendarmerie concerning war situations, either destroyed or taken along with the retreating units to the West. A very large amount of the 1944 local administrative records were destroyed due to the pass through of the fronts. There are some traces indicating that even in the 1950s (in Borsod and Tolna County) such lists were destroyed before archival transfer, also during the mass disposal of records based on the 10-year retention period. 

As it was outlined above, the copies forwarded to the Ministry of the Interior definitely went to the custody of the Hungarian Institute of Research on the Jewish Question. Their processing began but, for lack of time, was not completed. The teachers returned to their school in September 1944, while Zoltán Bosnyák closed down the Institute and left Budapest.

On 7th May 1945, the newspaper called Szabadság (“freedom”) reported that lists of names and several other records were found in the Institute’s building at no. 4 Vörösmarty square. The article provided a relatively detailed description on the “other records” discovered. According to its account, here, and at the District II, Bogár street building of the Institute, the valuable, requisitioned library was also found. On 1st June 1945, the same newspaper reported that the “complete list of names of the deported” had been compiled and would be available at no. 3 Bethlen square. This was the first time when the lists were mentioned as a “complete deportation list”. At the end of March 1945, Béla Vihar was assigned to collect the records concerning deportations. “I have come across part of the records of the Jewish Question Institute.” Beside inquiries and reports, he found the “deportation list that had to be forwarded to the Ministry of the Interior”. Vihar’s statement left no doubt that these were the lists compiled on the basis of Decree of 4th April, and in fact were not related to the deportations
.

Apparently, Béla Vihar spoke about records of the Ministry of the Interior, but never claimed that he saw them in the Ministry itself. Only no. 3 Bethlen square was mentioned as a location. This and no. 12 Síp street were the centres of the organisations he named. Considering this, it is probable that one of these was the place where he saw the records of the Jewish Question Institute he mentioned. This is what the information that appeared in the Szabadság referred to.

The data concerning the fate of the records were publicly revealed exactly a quarter of a century following their creation. In 1969, Ilona Beneschofsky, Director of the Jewish Museum stated that the library, archives and scientific department of the Bosnyák-institute were located at no. 26 Bogár street, which building was bombed and destroyed during the besiege of Budapest. Five “folders” of records was found among the ruins of this collapsed building
. The Jewish Museum registered the mentioned five “folders” in 1965, here too, with the note that they were recovered “from under the ruins”. From among these, folder no. 4 contained lists of names and the correspondence of Zoltán Bosnyák concerning the lists, the rest of the folders contained reporting letters. These records have been kept in the Jewish Museum and Archives up to the present, and can be accessed freely. In all probability, (an insignificant) part of these records (the records mentioned by Béla Vihar) is preserved in the Jewish Archives. All together 500 pages of records.

It is an important addition that the Archives of the Yad Vashem Institute in Jerusalem also preserves copies of (selected) records (Coll. Szekulesz, 015/14), the originals of which were found in the archives of the Hungarian Institute of Research on the Jewish Question. These copies and those preserved in the Jewish Archives are very similar in character but not identical. There is no doubt that the copying was not complete, it was just the lists that were not copied, although, as it is shown by the single page available, such lists were accessible for the unknown copier, too. 

It is probable that the records turned up in 1945 (or at least a significant part of them) got to private hands, and the documents selected from this material got to the Yad Vashem Institute. This seems to be confirmed by the fact that the Institute’s collection was named after László Szekulesz, a staff member of the Country Department of the Organisation of Hungarian Jews, later a leader of the National Jewish Support Council’s Department of Deportation Matters
.

 We would like to note that two lists are also known from the collection of the Holocaust Memorial Museum in Washington, one of which is the authentic copy of the list created in January 1945 of the Jewry of Marosvásárhely, presumably of the prisoners of the ghetto, and the other one was compiled before the Jewry of Dés was forced to the ghetto, in May 1944. Both of them originally belonged to the material of the local administration. (an information provided by Ferenc Katona, HMM)

Considering all this, it is presumable that the ministerial copies of the lists of names created on the basis of the Decree of the Ministry of the Interior dated 4th April 1944, were not transferred to the registry of any of the Hungarian state organs after 1945. 

 Decree No. 6136/1944. BM VII. res. of the Minister of the Interior, dated 4th April 1944, was undoubtedly the only attempt, before the set up of ghettos, to draw up complete (integrated) lists of the Jewish people according to place of residence. Due to the reasons mentioned above (absence and exemptions etc.) the effectiveness of such listings were limited and provided only an occasional basis for coercion (distinctive marking, forcing to ghetto and concentration camps, deportation) Thus, they can hardly be regarded as “deportation lists”. Obviously, the success of these was very similar to the result of the listings ordered by the Minister of Public Supply concerning the “persons regarded as Jewish in terms of food-supply”. 

According to the recent knowledge of historical science, the instruction to “make a list of names in two copies” was recorded only at the meeting concerning the preparation of deportations held on the 12th May 1944, in Munkács (for the Gendarmerie districts VIII, IX and X): “The commander of the loading station is ordered to send one copy to the police station of Munkács, the other one goes with the transport.”
 To the best of our knowledge, no one of the copies sent with the transports  (if such copies existed) is preserved in the State Museum of Auschwitz-Birkenau or any other Polish or German institution. We have no information about the further fate of the records of the Munkács police station. We know, however, that some lists can be found in Ukrainian archives, but these were created either on the basis of Decree 4th April or after the war (an information provided earlier by the historian Ágnes Ságvári, deceased)

It is important to note that about 275 thousand Jews were deported from the area of the above-mentioned three Gendarmerie districts, namely Kassa (Košice) – Sub-Carpathia and north-east Hungary, Kolozsvár (Cluj-Napoca) and Marosvásárhely (Tirgu-Mures) – north-Transylvania, which means that the 60 percent of all deported came from there. On the other hand, at the briefing held on 10th June, in Szeged (for district V and VI of the Gendarmerie) an unambiguous order was given that “no list can be made of the transport”
. Consequently, there were no lists made in the recent territory of Hungary (except for its north-west part) that could be regarded as “deportation lists”

In accordance with our task, regardless of the above statements, we extended our research to the archives and other record keeping places, where the presence of the records in question was probable, whatever slight the chance was. 

We have found that in the archival material of the year 1944 of the Ministry of the Interior preserved in the National Archives of Hungary, which survived in a very deficient form due to serious war damages, no data concerning the creation or receipt of the lists can be found. Such information never turned up in the records that were searched through several times during the past decades.

At our request, the local public archives (county archives) informed the Committee on all known lists preserved in their material among the records of local authorities, the city majors, the police and the chief constables. We made a summary of them, which indicates that they preserve only some dozens of lists.

As to the background of the press information claiming that in 1989/90, in the Ministry of the Interior, large amounts of completely disarranged and scattered records were found; we could reconstruct the following facts. The Ministry received the records of internment (presumably along with the rest) earlier, in sealed packages with the “indication of subject” and placed on the floor of the “cupola” of the Roosevelt square building of the Ministry.

The packages were opened in connection with the execution of the “first compensation Act”. Now we know that the records, gathered by the Political Police Department in 1945 from Szombathely, Győr and Sopron, happened to be right among these. These were the conditions, where “one could walk up to the knees in records” and that could be seen by Mr. Serge Klarsfeld.

At the same time, according to the registers of the Historical Archives of National Security Services there were large-scale records destructions even in 1989, at the Registry of the Ministry of the Interior, which presumably also affected records containing important information on the Holocaust in Hungary. 

Considering all this, we are in the position to state that, despite the extensive and thorough research, the lists of names pertaining to the recent territory of the country that would make possible the indirect identification of victims forced to death camps during the Holocaust in Hungary, can be found only very sporadically in Hungarian collections, the majority of them in the archival material of local authorities and, in one case, of a Gendarmerie district. We have no choice but to accept the fact that, similarly to the fate of many other important sources, the damages and scatterings of records caused by the war, as well as the requisition and destruction of records during the communist era, inflicted heavy losses on these materials, too. These days, all that remained can be found in archival collections. However, the detailed and full-scale enumeration of these records can only be accomplished by meticulous and painstaking historical research work, knowing all along that most of these lists of names were not created as the accompanying lists of deportations. 

Budapest, 24th February 2004

(Dr. László Varga)
    (Dr. László Soós) 

(Dr. Lajos Gecsényi)
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